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What is a Statement of Work?

A Statement of Work (SOW) is a definition of requirements. See Section 3 of this document, Statement of Work (SOW) Samples.

Statement of Work


A written description of the work to be performed under a purchase order to satisfy particular needs. In simple transactions, it can consist of the line items on the face of the purchase order that define what is being purchased; each item of which may include specifications.

Specification

A generic term to refer to a written requirement of a purchase order that provides a concise and accurate description of the services to be provided.

Market Research

Although market research itself is not part of the solicitation, the knowledge it provides the buyer will put the state on an equal footing with the Contractor. The buyer conducts market research on a service or product to determine its commercial availability, the Contractor community, the usual service and warranty terms, the standard terms and conditions for delivery of this service or product, typical current market prices and discount schedules, product reliability, and areas of risk in acquiring the service or product. Knowledge gained from the research will enable the buyer to ask the right questions to prepare a complete and realistic statement of the work required in terms to which the Contractor can respond effectively and also will ensure the solicitation includes appropriate contract provisions. The research will give the state an understanding of what a likely solution to the problem will be and what it will cost. This will lead to a more realistic and accurate evaluation of the offers. This knowledge will enable the buyer to ensure the SOW and solicitation terms and conditions are appropriate to the product or service to be acquired.


What to do when 
preparing the SOW

The goal of the solicitation for IT should be to achieve certain results (whether to develop software to perform a given process, provide products that will fill a given need, or provide staff to accomplish a given function). To increase the likelihood that you will achieve your desired results:

• DO solicit the input and advice of the program people who will receive and use the product and/or service.
• DO prepare the SOW in terms of the results that are desired and the performance that is expected.
• DO tell the Contractor how such results or performance will be measured and how acceptance of the product or service will be defined and accomplished.
• DO structure the SOW so the Contractor can propose a complete solution to the stated problem rather than merely offering the individual items requested.


• DO NOT tell the Contractor how to do the job; for example: "staff the project with this number of people with the following qualifications."
• DO determine the full range of the problem to be solved before issuing the solicitation. The SOW
should be comprehensive.
• DO decide what is really required to meet the state's needs.
• DO determine the minimum required. How little can you do and still meet your needs?
• DO distinguish between the "must do" and the ”nice to have."
• DO determine how the "nice to haves" will be evaluated if they are proposed.
• DO determine the value to the state of the extras and try to quantify them.
• DO write a new SOW for each procurement.
• DO NOT just cobble together standard paragraphs from previous solicitations. There are bound to be inconsistencies, gaps, and errors. Resolving these will delay the completion of the procurement.
• DO review the SOW even if the product or service is one that has been purchased before. Perhaps the requirements have changed, or there is a newer technological solution to the problem, or the marketplace has changed and what was once a specialty product or service for the state is now commercially available off-the-shelf.



Minimum Criteria   The Statement of Work should include at a minimum the following information:

• Detailed statement of the purpose, objective or goals
• Personnel job classification/skill level
• Name/identification of assigned contractor personnel
• Identification of all significant material to be developed/delivered
• Completion/acceptance criteria
• Delivery timeframe/liquidated damages
• Time schedule (start date, end date, milestones)• 
• Fixed cost for each task (fixed price ceiling is the sum of all tasks)
• Everything pertinent to the successful completion of the purchase order (e.g., technical specifications, floor plans, etc.)

See Section 2 of this document for a List of Questions that can be used as a checklist when developing a Statement of Work



Sample SOW Considerations


-Resumes/references
-Insurance
-Installation (multiple sites)
-Risk Factors
-Interface concerns
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Sample SOW Considerations (continued)

-Maintenance (escalation, remedial, preventive)
-Financing or payment arrangements
-Liquidated damages (late delivery)
-Financial responsibility
-Transition/implementation (phased)
-Federal funding (Debarment Certification)
-Task Delineation
-Warranty
-Data conversion
-Fiscal Year funding
-Timeframe constraints or timelines
-Security
-Project management
-Backup
-Deliverables
-Analyze existing system for performance needs, features, attributes, reports
-Selection criteria
-Reporting during development (status, problems change control, money, approval hierarchy, problem escalation or resolution, walkthroughs)
-Public works (not acceptable)
-Testing (when, what type)
-Licensed software vs. developed (number of users, future modifications, ongoing support)
-S/DVBE participation goals
-Unanticipated tasks
-Cost/budget limits
-Supplies
-Early payment discount
-Training (administrative/user)
-Product needs





SECTION 2 – QUESTIONS FOR DEVELOPING STATEMENT OF WORK




This section provides important aspects to be considered before establishing any type of Statement of
Work (SOW).

A.   Description of Goods/Services to be Provided (overview)

•	What product or service is to be provided?
•	Purchase of commercially available hardware?
•	Purchase of commercial off-the-shelf (COTS) software?
•	Outsourcing (or privatizing) a function or service?
•	Custom software development?
•	Design, development, and integration of a new system or system upgrade?
•	What quantity do you expect to purchase? 

B.   Period of Performance

What is the period of performance? C.  Delivery Requirements
•	What are the delivery requirements for equipment, software, or other products?
•	How soon do you need it?
•	What is the F.O.B. point?
•	How must equipment be packaged?
•	Who is responsible for unpacking?
•	How will partial shipments and back orders be handled?
•	What are the acceptance procedures for each delivery?
•	How will problems or deficiencies in delivery be handled? D.  Equipment Purchased
•	What hardware will be purchased?
•	What are the physical requirements for the hardware?
•	Size? Operating conditions?
•	What are the functional specifications? What is the hardware expected to do?
•	What features are desired?
•	Documentation/Diagram requirements?
•	What existing hardware will be interfacing with the new equipment?



Continued on next page
STATEMENT OF WORK (SOW) INFORMATION



• What are the requirements for accessibility and use by the disabled?
• Is there a need for a given brand name or will a "brand name or equal" specification meet the requirement?
• What is the requirement for availability of replacement parts?

E.   Software Purchased
• What software will be included in the procurement?
• Will software be custom developed, commercial off-the-shelf (COTS) or Software as a Service   (Saas)?
• What is the requirement for including software upgrades?
• What are the licensing requirements?
• Is the license for a machine, a site, or an agency?
• Is the license perpetual, annual, monthly, or extended use?
• What are the rights of licensor and licensee to use, disclose, sell, or reproduce the software?
• Are manuals on using the software included in the purchase?
• Are they standard or custom?
• Are there minimum requirements for content or format?
• How many will be provided? One for each software copy? One for each machine or user?
• What about other documentation?
• What is your requirement for availability of source code?
• For custom software? For commercial software?
• Do you really need it? (For example, you might need it if the state wants to be able to fix any bugs or do its own upgrades in the future. Having the source code provides some protection if the Contractor goes out of business or is overcharging for maintenance services.)
• Who owns the source code? Does contractor have the right to sell it to you? Do you want a copy of all the source codes, or will it be sufficient to put it in escrow? Do you want source code put in escrow for future use? How is source code maintained as software is upgraded by contractor? Is escrow software maintained also?
• Do you want copies of the programming tools used? F.   Tasks to be accomplished/functions to be performed
• What are the specific tasks to be accomplished? What function or service is to be performed?
• What results are desired?  Be as specific as possible.

G.  Systems Integration
• Are there systems integration functions included in the procurement?
• What systems (hardware and/or software) will be integrated?
• Do you want the integrator to analyze functional requirements and needs?
• Do you want the functions reengineered for increased efficiency? Or do you just want to computerize existing systems?
• Do you want an assessment of currently available technology and designs?
• Do you want the Contractor to design the system?
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• Do you want the Contractor to select the hardware and  software technology?
• Do you want the Contractor to purchase the system components?
• Do you want the Contractor to customize the system if necessary to meet the state's unique requirements?
• Do you want the Contractor to assemble, install, test, implement, and make the system operational? H.  Data Handling
• Are there data handling functions included in the procurement?
• What is the workload (current/projected) with respect to the data and its users?
• What is the volume of data?
• Is there a requirement for data entry?
• How often is data changed or updated?
• Is real-time access to the data needed?
• What capacity is required (current/projected) to store the data?
• What response time is needed when accessing, entering, or maintaining the data?
• Will there be common access to given database from multiple users?
• Will there be access from multiple locations?
• Will there be access needed by multiple agencies?
• What are the security requirements for the data? How will it be protected?
• What reports and data are to be provided?
• What data is needed? Is there a standard form? Who needs it? When are the reports due? I.	Outsourcing Computer Operations
• Are you outsourcing computer operations?
• What equipment will be operated? Make and model? How many?
• Do you want a help desk or hot line for questions and problems?
• What functions will the Contractor perform?
• What are the outputs?
• How often is each required output produced?
• To whom is each output distributed?
• What is the operations schedule? Around the clock? Business hours only? Other? J.  Transition of Operations to New Contractor
• How will you handle the transition of computer operations from state or previous contract to new Contractor?
• What is the time frame for the transition?
• What are the state’s or previous contractor's responsibilities and tasks?
• What are the new contractor's responsibilities and tasks?
• Are you providing a transition plan and schedule, or do you want the Contractor to provide them?
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K. Training

• Is there a requirement for training of state or contractor staff?
• Who will be trained?
• When will training occur?
• What methodology will be used? Classroom? Videotape? Computer based?
• Where will training be conducted? Locally? At a distant location? On-site in state space? At contractor site? At some central location?
• Who is responsible for providing training?
• What equipment will be needed to provide training?
• Who is responsible for providing equipment? L. Installation Requirements
• What are the installation requirements for equipment or software?
• Who develops the specifications for the installation location?
• What are the existing physical conditions at the installation location?
• Do these conditions meet the requirements for successful installation of equipment?
• If not, who is responsible for modifications to the installation location to prepare the site to receive the equipment?
• Who is responsible for architecture and engineering associated with required modifications?
• Who is responsible for construction?
• Who is responsible for specifying cabling and wiring requirements?
• For installing cabling and wiring?
• Who is responsible for installation of new equipment and/or software?
• For software, who is responsible for preparing the existing hardware to receive new software?
• What is the required time frame for delivery, installation, inspection and testing, training and operations?

M.  Test and Acceptance Procedures

• What are the test and acceptance procedures?
• What are the criteria for acceptance?
• Will the state or the Contractor develop the test procedures and test plan?
• What are the minimum requirements for the test procedures, test plan, and test reports? N.  Maintenance Requirements
• What are the maintenance requirements for equipment and/or software?
• What are the requirements for mean time between failures (MTBF)?
• What are the requirements for mean time to repair (MTTR)?
• What is the required response time from initial call for repairs?
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• Does response time differ for prime maintenance periods versus standby or on-call maintenance periods?
• Does response time vary by time of day or day of week?
• What is the Contractor expected to do within the given response time? 
• Are there different maintenance periods (principal periods of maintenance versus secondary) with different levels of required support?
• What type of support is required? On-site? Use of remote diagnostics? Hot line support? email response?
• What is the requirement for availability of parts over the system life? O.  Preventive Maintenance
• What preventive maintenance is expected from the Contractor?
• What is included?
• When will it be performed? Business hours or after?
• How long does it take?
• What is the system downtime during preventive maintenance? P.   Warranty
• What warranty provisions will be acceptable from the Contractor?
• What is the time period for the warranty?
• Do you require the Contractor to warrant software as bug free? Virus free? Free of "harmful code"?
• Do you require the Contractor to warrant that the seller has the right to sell the software?
• Do you require a warranty for free repair for defects appearing within a given time? Or for repair of defective parts?
• What about post warranty maintenance? Q. Technology Refreshment
• Will the contract require or allow for technology refreshment?
• Before or after initial delivery?
• At same or lower cost only?
• Will cost increases be allowed if improved functionality is provided? R.  Security Requirements
• What are the security issues? 
• What are the threats?
• How much security is desired?
• How much security can be afforded?
• What is the tradeoff between risks and costs?


S.   Compatibility and Interface Requirements

• What are the compatibility and interface issues?
• What IT or software is already in use with which the new equipment or software must interface?
• Are existing files in hard copy or electronic?
• Will existing files work with new hardware/software?
• If not, who will do the data conversion? T.   Performance Measurement
Once the state has specified the product or service to be acquired, you need to decide how results will be measured and how performance will be judged. Is timeliness an issue? What about the quality of the product or service? Products, such as hardware and software, and services are discussed individually in the following section.  Procedures for measuring the quality of hardware and software include the following:

• Having a live test demo. 
• Having a benchmark test to see if the system does what you need it to do in your environment.
• Requesting an acceptance test. You will need to decide the criteria for passing it.
• Having an acceptance test period with given requirements for performance during that period.
• Specifying the system availability requirements for system acceptance.
• Specifying the requirements for system availability during system operation after system acceptance.
• Deciding how to define system availability; for example: "total time available less downtime divided by total time available."
• Defining-system downtime. 
• Deciding when and how the state will be compensated for downtime. Performance Measurement for Services
Services can be harder to measure than computer system performance. For example, the state needs to decide how to measure the Contractor's performance in comparison with the agency or state past performance of the given function. Performance requirements should be realistic and the measurement system needs to be fair to avoid holding the Contractor to a standard that is too high or too low.

If the state is contracting-out an entire function rather than just meeting a temporary need or supplying software development or a product, here are some questions to be answered:

• What was agency past performance?
• How was it measured?
• Was past performance formally measured? Or was it simply a question of public perception?
• Are standards of performance the same for the Contractor as they were for the agency?

Continued on next page
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• Is the Contractor expected to work at the peak level of performance immediately, or is there a transition period with an anticipated improvement over time?

U. Quality Control/Quality Assurance

Existing laws of the state may mandate specific quality control or quality assurance oversight. 

OTHER AREAS TO CONSIDER

In addition to the areas specific to IT mentioned above, there are other issues that should be addressed in developing the SOW, including some personnel and contract administration issues, such as:

• What is anticipated for the future?
• What life cycle costs (purchase, operations, upgrades and maintenance, disposition) will be included in the evaluation?
• Have the benefits of leasing equipment compared to buying it been determined, or do you want the
Contractor to do the evaluation?
• What costs should be included?
• Will contract be fixed price or cost reimbursable?
• How will travel and other expenses be reimbursed?
• Who will finance the project? The Contractor or the state?
• When is payment made? At completion? When milestone is reached? As each delivery is made? At acceptance?
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This information is based on the Article “Getting the Information You Want”: “A SOW Checklist for the CO” by Sandra L. Saydah, Contract Management Magazine, (November 1997). Reprinted by permission of the National Contract Management Association.


EXHIBIT 1

SCOPE OF WORK

A.   STUDY OBJECTIVES

To gather opinion-based data from a sample of California small business owners/executives relative to:

• Current general knowledge and awareness regarding the small business component of the State’s procurement efforts.
• Observations and reactions to the State’s small business procurement processes from those small businesses that are either currently State certified or who once were certified and no longer are.
• Perceived barriers to small business certification and, in general, the State’s procurement process as it relates to small business.
• Suggestions as to system (human and electronic) improvements that might make “doing business with the State” easier for small business.
• Suggestions as to effective ways to provide information about the State’s small business procurement efforts to small businesses, and encourage them to become California Certified Small Businesses.

B.   FOCUS GROUP PARAMETERS

To conduct and report findings on a total of five focus groups selected from San Francisco/Bay and Los
Angeles areas:

Three groups composed of small business owners/executives who either currently are, or who have been in the past but who are not currently, certified as California Small Businesses.
Three groups composed of small business owners/executives who are not currently, and have never been, certified as California Small Businesses.

C.  SUGGESTED TIMELINE

After the official “go ahead” date from the state, the Contractor shall adhere to the following timeline within the number of days indicated between each task.

Upon notification of official project “go-ahead” date.

6 days	Draft respondent screening questionnaire(s) submitted to the State.
5 days	State’s comments on draft screening questionnaire(s) sent to contractor.
2 days	Final screening questionnaire(s) approved by the State.
5 days	Respondent recruiting begins.
7 days	Draft Discussion Guide(s) submitted to the State.
7 days	State’s comments on Draft Discussion Guide(s) sent to contractor.
7 days	Final Discussion Guide(s) submitted to the State.
3 days	Final Discussion Guide(s) approved by the State.
4 days	Conduct focus groups.
8 days	Written Topline Summary submitted to the State. TBD	Topline Summary Presentation to the State.

Continued on next page
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15 days	Draft Report of Findings submitted to the State.
7 days	State’s comments on Draft Report of Findings sent to the Contractor.
7 days	Final Report of Findings submitted to the State.

D.  SCOPE OF WORK DETAILS

1.0 Recruit Focus Group Respondents

1.1 Develop respondent specifications. Select and schedule focus group test sites. Design recruiting methodology. Prepare and submit Project Design Memorandum to the State.

Prepare draft respondent screening questionnaire(s) and submit to the state for review. Based on the state’s review contractor shall finalize respondent screening questionnaires and obtain the state’s approval.

Develop respondent recruiting specifications and respondent profile reporting formats.

Recruit sufficient focus group respondents from both listed sample provided by the State (currently certified and formerly certified small businesses) as well as recruiter’s own databases (small businesses never certified) to ensure 8-10 respondents in each focus group.

Pay appropriate participation honorariums to each confirmed respondent who either participates in a focus group or is excused after arriving at the focus group test facility.

2.0 Conduct Focus Group Interviews

2.1 Prepare draft focus group Discussion Guide(s) which appropriately shape the focus group discussion so that researchers can gather opinion based data to answer state’s research questions. Submit draft Discussion Guide(s) to the State for review. Revise draft(s) based on the State’s review. Prepare and obtain the state’s approval on final focus group Discussion Guide(s).

2.2 Provide focus group test facilities, which allow state’s observation of focus group sessions, audio and video recording of the interviews, and appropriate hospitality for both respondents as well as the State.

2.3 Professionally moderate each focus group using the discussion guides as a framework for the interview; moderators to probe responses as needed, and allow the interview to move in directions appropriate for each group. Meet briefly with the State at the conclusion of each focus group for the purpose of sharing immediate observations and insights. Provide the State with videotape documentation of the focus group testing from the respondent screening questionnaires. Present Topline Summary as a written Memorandum as well as verbally to the State.

3.0 Data Analysis and Reporting

3.1 Prepare a Topline Summary Memorandum following the conclusion of the final focus group. In this Topline Summary capture preliminary key findings and initial recommendations. The Topline Summary will also include basic respondent demographic information assembled.
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3.2 Transcribe and fully analyze audiotapes of focus group proceedings. Prepare and submit to the State a draft Final Report of Findings including respondent verbatim to document the findings. This draft Final Report of Findings will include sections on Study Methodology; Respondent Demographics; Summary of Key Findings (including verbatim); Recommendations.

3.3 Based on the State’s review of the draft Report of Findings, prepare and submit the final Report of Findings, prepared as the final “public” documentation of this study. In the appendices to the report include samples of the respondent screening questionnaire, focus group Discussion Guide, and transcripts of the focus group interviews.

4.0 Deliverables

4.1 The final study deliverable will be two bound copies of the Final Report of Findings (including transcripts); audio tapes of all focus groups; a PC (MS WORD) disk containing a file of the report.
4.2 Deliverables will be accepted when presented complete as noted in 4.1. E.   RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE STATE:

Locations of services to be performed will be mutually agreed upon by both parties.

The State is responsible for providing required information, data and documentation to facilitate the Contractor’s performance of the work, and will provide such additional assistance and services as is specifically set for in the scope of work.

Should the Contractor determine that a delay exists, or is probable due to failure of the State, the
Contractor will notify the State in writing immediately.

F.   MEETINGS:

The Contractor will be requested to participate in joint meetings with representatives of the State to discuss the issues and project status. These meetings will be held in Sacramento at a site to be determined by the State.

G.  POINTS OF CONTACT

Contractor and agency contacts.
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EXHIBIT 2

STATEMENT OF WORK

This Statement of Work (SOW) reflects the services to be provided by Contractor, Inc., hereinafter referred to as ''Contractor," for the State of California, Department of Blue.

A.   INTRODUCTION

Contractor will create for the Department of Blue a Statement of Work (SOW) that will:

1.   Serve as the "Request for Offer" to acquire the services of a Master Services Agreement supplier to conduct a 90-day “Diagnostic Review” of the State of California purchasing and contracting policy, procedures, practices and governance structure that is currently utilized in the administration of solicitations and contract awards by state agencies.

2.   This shall provide a review of current State of California statutes, and Department of Blue regulations and policies, procedures, guidelines, and practices governing the acquisition of goods, services and information technology, and shall identify opportunities for improving consistent application of these procurement rules.

3.   A clear delineation of the roles, responsibilities, and authorities vested (whether by statute, policy, or delegation) in each entity involved in the acquisition of goods, services and information technology by state agencies.

4.   A clear delineation of the roles, responsibilities, and authorities vested in each entity involved in the issuance of notices of intent to award contracts, and protests of state agency solicitations and contract awards. This section of the "Diagnostic Review" shall also include analyses of the various procedures and processes, along with recommendations for changes that would improve their effectiveness.

5.   A clear delineation of the authority of Department of Blue, and the Departments of MotorEase and
Airways, in the acquisition of information technology.

6.   A clear delineation of the Department of Blue’ authority to enter into various types of contracting vehicles for use by state and local agencies (examples: Master Service Agreements, California Multiple Award Schedule (CMAS) agreements, Statewide Commodity Contracts, etc.

7.   A clear delineation of the authority of Department of Blue and the Department of Defense to enter agreements for pharmaceuticals.

8.   A clear delineation of the Department of Blue’ authority to enter sole source contracts.

9.   A clear delineation of the rules, agreements, standards and roles that describe the basis for interaction between state agencies, business functions and individuals within the State of California’s procurement processes.

Continued on next page
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10. Recommendations for changes that would improve the clarity and effectiveness of statutes, regulations, policies, procedures, guidelines, and practices governing purchasing and contracting by state agencies.
11. By conducting this independent and objective review, the Department of Blue will have the information necessary to propose changes to current purchasing and contracting statutes, regulations, policies, procedures, guidelines, and practices that will assure consistent and equitable administration through out the State.

12. In addition, Contractor will develop any transmittal letters necessary to coordinate the appropriate interviews and final review and approval of the Request for Offer.

B.   PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE

The period of performance for this Agreement shall be for a period of 30 calendar days, commencing on the date the Agreement is signed.

C.  AMOUNT

The hourly rate is $200 per hour. The total amount of this Agreement shall not exceed $14,000.

D.  DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES

Task 1: Project Initiation and Management

• Conduct a project scope meeting with the Department of Blue project sponsor(s) and designated staff to confirm the project objectives and approach.
• Review pertinent background materials.
• Interview at least six key participants. Interviews will be conducted either in person or by phone.
• Conduct debriefing sessions with the Department of Blue project sponsor(s) and appropriate staff upon completion of the interviews, to share the findings.

Contractor Responsibilities

• Request background materials.
• Conduct at least six key participant interviews.
• Establish feedback points with project sponsor.
• Develop transmittal letters discussing the project and requesting participation of key stakeholders.

Department Responsibilities

•	Gather background materials that will assist the Contractor in their preparation.
•	Identify participants for interview by contractor.

Task 2: Develop Draft Statement of Work
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Task 3: Present Draft Statement of Work

The purpose of the meeting is to:

• Present the draft SOW to stakeholders.
• Identify any outstanding issues stakeholders may have with draft SOW.
• Identify actions that the Department of Blue must complete prior to the finalization of the SOW and release the Request for Offer.
• Develop an implementation plan (next steps) for the procurement of services described in the SOW.

Task 4: Finalize the Statement of Work and Cover Letter.

Prepare any required transmittal memoranda or letters to accompany the SOW as it is routed for various approvals.
Task 5: Present Finalized Statement of Work. E. DELIVERABLES

Deliverables for this project include:

	Task
	Deliverable
	Completion Timeframe

	Task 1
	Project Initiation & Conduct Interviews
	36 hours of effort

	Task 2
	Develop Draft SOW
	18 hours of effort

	Task 3
	Present Draft SOW
	4 hours of effort

	Task 4
	Finalize SOW
	8 hours effort

	Task 5
	Present Finalized SOW
	4 hours of effort



F. POINTS OF CONTACT

Contractor and agency contacts.
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A.   SCOPE OF WORK

General Description – As a result of recent legislation, the State of California has been mandated to research its current policies and procedures on pharmaceutical products and services, and develop a plan to improve upon them. Contractor will study issues pertaining to prescription drugs and identify an alternative benefit program(s) for the State.

B.   FOUR BASIC ISSUES THAT WILL BE EXAMINED BY THE CONTRACTOR:


1.   Whether or not the State should establish or expand a third-party prescription benefit program or programs. If so, for whom: seniors (low-income or all seniors), non-seniors (low-income or all Californians), children (low-income or all-Californians), individuals in certain employment categories (such as unemployed, transitionally unemployed, employees of small businesses, state employees)?

2.   Whether or not the State should impose price controls on prescription drugs. If a third-party program is established, price controls will become almost a necessity to keep program costs from spiraling out of control. Even in the absence of third-party payment, some states have pursued this option for the general market. This issue would include the question of whether statutorily-mandated lower-price provisions, such as that required under federal law for Medicaid beneficiaries, should be extended to other populations, as California did recently for all Medicare-eligible. The impact of each strategy must be considered not just for consumers but also for industry sub-segments such as pharmacists (chain or independent), separate from drug manufacturers, and how best to address the economic realities of each.

3.   Use of other cost-containment strategies such as substitution of generic drugs, prescription benefit management, or therapeutic review system. Aggregation of purchasing power either through state- created purchasing programs or authorization of private purchasing cooperatives. If such an approach is utilized, for whom: seniors (low-income or all seniors), non-seniors (low-income or all Californians), children (low-income or all Californians), individuals in certain employment categories (such as unemployed, transitionally unemployed, employees of small businesses, state employees)? Again, the impact of such strategies must be considered not just for consumers but also for industry sub-segments such as pharmacists (chain or independent), separate from drug manufacturers, and how best to address the economic realities of each.

4.   Each of these areas will be studied from the standpoint of economic effect, administrative implementation, legal constraints, and political feasibility. This will require, for each, undertaking a review of other states’ experiences, federal limitations and requirement, and the California legal, governmental, and political environments.

C.  DELIVERABLES:

Contractor will study each of the four enumerated subject areas for a period of three weeks each, resulting in a short background/decision memo being delivered to the State at the end of that period (Weeks 3, 6, 9 & 12 respectively). The State’s responses on each of the options outlined in the background/decision memo should be returned to and discussed with the Contractor on a rolling basis.
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This will then allow two weeks (Weeks 13 & 14) for consolidation of the background memos and the State’s responses into a draft decision memorandum; this draft product will be finalized in conjunction with the State’s review during Week 14 (the 90-day mark).

D.  FINAL PRODUCT:

The final product will be a decision memo providing sufficient background, data, and analysis to support the proposal program, and to allow legislative drafting and Budget Change Proposal development.

E.   RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE STATE:

1.   Locations of services to be performed will be mutually agreed upon by both parties.

2.   The State is responsible for identifying appropriate contacts from other state agencies/departments to participate in discussions on the issues.

3.   The State is responsible for providing required information, data and documentation to facilitate the Contractor’s performance of the work, and will provide such additional assistance and services as is specifically set for in the scope of work.

4.   Should the Contractor determine that a delay exists, or is probable due to failure of the State, the
Contractor will notify the State in writing immediately.

5.   Meetings: The Contractor will be requested to participate in joint meetings with representatives of the State to discuss the issues and project status. These meetings will be held in Sacramento at a site to be determined by the State.

F.   CONTRACTOR’S MASTER AGREEMENT:

The Contractor’s master agreement (contract #63-AA-99-88) with the Department of MasterMinds is incorporated by reference and made a part of this agreement by reference as if attached hereto.

G.  PROJECT CONTACTS:

Contractor and agency contacts.
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EXHIBIT 4

SCOPE OF WORK

Contractor agrees to provide recyclable paper collection services to the State Recovery Center as described herein. Contractor shall remove wastepaper from the State’s facilities, sell paper, and reimburse the State for the sale of its wastepaper as described in Exhibit B.

The Contractor shall pick-up baled wastepaper from the State Recovery Center located at 23 Redding
Blvd., Stockton, CA.

A.   CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITIES

1.   Contractor shall perform all services specified in a safe professional manner. Contractor’s equipment shall be in good working order and shall be adequate for the services required.

2.   Contractor’s vehicles(s) shall have sound flooring and be free from objectionable materials and odors.
Vehicles must be prepared to accept materials by supplying all equipment necessary to perform the requested services.

3.   Contractor’s personnel shall be trained in safety measures to preclude accidents endangering state personnel or property.

4.   Contractor shall have adequate office and personnel resources for responding to the State’s needs, including telephone coverage, Monday through Friday, excluding State Holidays, during normal working hours between 8:00 AM and 5:00 PM.

B.   PERFORMANCE SPECIFICATIONS

1.   Contractor must pick-up baled paper within two (2) working days of request from the State.
Contractor may, with the agreement of the State, develop in writing a pick-up schedule as long as such schedule does not interfere with the operation and/or storage needs of the State Records Center.

2.   At minimum pick-up will be considered a full truckload (approximately 33,500 pounds of baled paper), except in the case of tab card stock, when less than full truckloads may be required (at state’s discretion).

3.   Upon making each pick-up, contractor is required to sign a receipt prepared by the State indicating the quantities and grade of paper.

4.   The State may mark each bale with the estimated weight thereof. Such weight shall be recorded on the receipt prepared by the State for the Contractor to acknowledge by signature of acceptance. As the listed bales are loaded onto the truck, they shall be verified as loaded.

5.   Contractor may, with mutual consent of the State, provide storage containers or trailers for the storage and transportation of wastepaper bales. The State disclaims, and the Contractor acknowledges ownership, responsibility for upkeep, and liability for loss of or damage to, such containers.
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EXHIBIT 4

C.  STATE’S RESPONSIBILITIES

1.   The State shall load bales onto vehicle(s) supplied by the Contractor. The State shall not be responsible for weight distribution of load, but will attempt to prevent overload of baled units.

THE STATE WILL NOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE SUSTAINED BY THE CONTRACTOR IN CONNECTION WITH PICK-UP OF BALED PAPER.

2.   When Contractor departs from the State’s facility, the State reserves the right to accompany the truck to the nearest certified public weighmaster where the weight is to be confirmed.

3.   Downgrades of bales after shipment must be in accordance with the following procedure:

• After notification of a downgrade, the State will notify Contractor within two (2) working days as to which of the following procedures the State has decided upon.
• Order reshipment of the material (return freight F.O.B. buyer’s plant).
• Contact State Transportation Management Unit for routing instructions before returning shipment.
• Require the opportunity to inspect the quality of the rejected material within three working days from the time the State notifies contractor of procedures to be taken and during such period give contractor final disposition.
• Outside a 100-mile radius of Sacramento, the State, at its discretion, may require samples and/or photographs of rejected bales.
• Agree with the Contractor to a compromise acceptance and settlement.

4.   Contractor will be required to provide technical assistance as requested by the State to assure desired quality level at the State Records Center. Any change resulting from such assistance shall be approved by the State prior to implementation.

D.  DEFINITION OF GRADES

Paper grade definitions will be based generally on Circular PS-98 standards, but reflect specific materials shredded at the State Records Center.

1.   Computer Printouts

Consists of white groundwood free paper in forms manufactured for use is data processing machines. This grade may contain colored stripes and impact or non-impact (e.g. laser) computer printing, and may contain no more than 5% groundwood in the pack. All stock must be untreated and uncoated.

Prohibitive materials: None permitted
Total Outthrows may not exceed: 2%

Price Base: Computer Printout: CPO(42)
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EXHIBIT 4

E.   Mixed Paper

Consists of a mixture of various qualities of paper not limited as to type of baling or fiber content.

Prohibitive materials may not exceed: 2% Total Outthrows may not exceed: 10%
Price Base: Mixed Paper: MP(1) F.   Sorted Office Paper

Consists of baled paper, as typically generated by offices, containing primarily white and colored groundwood free paper, free of unbleached fiber.  May include a small percentage of groundwood computer printout and facsimile paper.

Prohibitive materials may not exceed: 2% Total Outthrows may not exceed: 5%
Price Base: Sorted Office Paper: SOP(37) E.   PROJECT REPRESENTATIVES

Contractor and agency contact.



[bookmark: _Toc509132952][bookmark: _Toc509976411][bookmark: _Toc513015070][bookmark: _Toc513371288]Table of Contents
I.1 Scope	3
I.2 Service Level Roles and Responsibilities	4
I.3 Definitions	4
I.4 Review and Adjustment to Service Levels	7
I.5 System Environment Service Levels	8
I.5.1 Help Desk	8
I.5.2 Administration and Security	10
I.5.3 Backup and Recovery	11
I.6 Production Systems Service Levels	12
I.6.1 Availability Service Levels	14
I.6.2 Production Systems Time to Repair	15
I.7 Application Configuration Modification	15
I.7.1 Application Configuration Modification	15

[bookmark: _Toc77653437][bookmark: _Toc517092250][bookmark: _Toc519497513][bookmark: _Toc108863616][bookmark: _Toc394664378]
I.1 Scope
[bookmark: _GoBack]As described in Section IV: Proposed System and Section VI: Technical Requirements, the                    seeks a Software as a Service (SaaS) solution that will require both software configuration, development, integration, and implementation services and the SaaS platform that the                         system will run on.   For purposes of this IFB, we define the “SaaS Integration (SI) Contractor” as the Prime Contractor responsible for software development, software configuration, testing, knowledge transfer, and deployment of the    service.   The “SaaS Platform Provider (SPP)” is the vendor providing the base system, data center services, physical and logical security, backup and recovery, etc.  
While the        has elected to differentiate between the two services types (___ and ___) for clarity in defining areas of responsibility, we understand that Contractors may elect to propose a single company that can provide both services. Contractors should clearly identify in their proposal how these two service types are addressed and if there are more than one service providers, identify the provider and specific role.
·                               seeks a Software as a Service (SaaS) solution that offers a high level of service quality and reliable access for SaaS users of the     System. Appendix I: Service Level Agreement, details the        Minimum Acceptable Service Levels (MASLs) required from the Contractor, as well as related Contractor responsibilities for such activities as service level monitoring and reporting.
· This Service Level Agreement covers the following service categories:
· SaaS Data Center Environment
· Application Configuration Modification 
· For each service that is within scope, this Service Level Agreement describes specific services, performance targets, and committed service levels (objectives) that are to be used to monitor the overall effectiveness of the services provided by the Contractor. The service levels defined in Appendix I.5: System Environment Service Levels through Appendix I.7: Application Configuration Modification, and the service level status and performance reporting described in Appendix I.8: Service Level Agreement Reporting and Reviews, must be included in and supported by the Contractor’s Service Level Agreement with the           in accordance with the definitions and severity levels provided. The Contractor’s ability to meet service level objectives will be critical to   ___  success.


[bookmark: _Toc77653439][bookmark: _Toc517092252][bookmark: _Toc519446720][bookmark: _Toc519497514][bookmark: _Toc108863617][bookmark: _Toc394664379]I.2 Service Level Roles and Responsibilities
Primary responsibilities of the Contractor include, but are not limited to: 
Initial and final configuration and deployment of the SaaS application and the technical infrastructure for operating and delivering the     solution in accordance with specified requirements.
Initial and final configuration and deployment of the Interface and Operational Continuity System (IOCS) at the Resources Agency Data Center (RADC).
Database operations, administration, and maintenance of the database supporting the SaaS solution. 
Contractor help desk services.
Maintenance and operations of the SaaS data center hardware, telecommunications, and system software, to include networks (LAN/WAN), peripherals and operating system software.
Maintaining physical and electronic data security and confidentiality and monitoring for internal and external breaches and exposures of all software and data residing in the SaaS data center.
Backup and recovery of data residing in the SaaS data center.
Data archive and restore of data residing in the SaaS data center.
[bookmark: _Toc77653440][bookmark: _Toc517092253][bookmark: _Toc519497517][bookmark: _Toc108863620][bookmark: _Toc394664380]I.3 Definitions
The Table I3-1: Service Level Agreement Definitions defines the terms that must be included and supported by the Contractor’s Service Level Agreement with the       .

Table I.3-1: Service Level Agreement Definitions
	Item
	Definition

	Availability
	The percentage of time the service is fully operational. Availability represents a measure of the fraction of time during a defined period when the service provided is operational. Availability (%) = 100% - Unavailability (%)
Where Unavailability is defined as:
        Outage Duration x 100%       
Schedule Time – Planned Outages 

	       Administrator
	               staff responsible for monitoring      operations.  The       Administrator will serve as the point of contact with the Contractor for all trouble reporting.   
               Administrator is a general term and applies to any          technical staff providing this service.

	       Administrator and Contractor Help Desk Hours 
	The Contractor help desk must be available from ____ a.m. through ____ p.m. Pacific Time, Monday through Friday, except for state and federal holidays. These are the hours that the        Administrator staff will routinely work and during which the 
             Administrator Help Desk will operate, fielding first-level help calls and requests. 

	Escalation Level
	The phase within the defined Escalation Process in which the resolution of a particular problem resides.

	Escalation Process
	The process that the Contractor, or the        can trigger in order to escalate a reported problem if either the Time to Respond or the Time to Resolve is missed.

	Failure Month
	The month during which one or more Measurement Intervals within the month or in the preceding month(s) occurs. 

	First Contact
	Initial contact with the Contractor’s Help Desk technician for a service request or problem.

	First Level (Help Desk) Support
	The level of system support and assistance provided by the Help Desk technicians who answer the         support phone line or who initially review the trouble tickets submitted by         authorized system users. Staff providing First Level Support attempt to resolve the incident through personal expertise/experience (e.g., knowledge of common usage mistakes), by following trouble-shooting checklists or other information in the Help Desk database, or by consulting with colleagues. Incidents that can be resolved by First Level Support are generally resolved relatively quickly and without requiring extensive research or technical intervention. When staff providing First Level Support are unable to resolve a problem within a specified period of time or recognize that the nature or severity of the problem warrants, the problem or support request is escalated to Second Level Support.  [See Appendix I.5.1: Help Desk and associated footnote for information related to            
             First Level Support.]

	Frequency of Update
(to the          )
	The frequency with which the Contractor will communicate status to the           during the problem resolution process and after the initial notification when the problem is first reported. The Severity Level of the Incident will determine the frequency of updates. Updates will be communicated when there is a change in problem status, if the problem persists, at intervals specified in relevant Service Level Agreements, or at intervals agreed upon by the Contractor and the            . 

	Holidays 
	Any U.S. Federal or California State holiday that falls on what would otherwise be normal working days and hours.

	Incident
	A single support issue, typically denoted by a request for service or identification of a problem.

	Measurement Interval
	The period of time over which performance will be calculated. This takes into consideration the impact of continuous outage. For example, assuming a monthly Measurement Interval (using a 28-day month) for a Service with a 99% Minimum Performance for that specifies a 7x24 system availability with 8 hours of weekly planned downtime. The relevance of the Measurement Interval is reflected in the following calculations:
· 7x24 hour week = 168 x 4 weeks in the month = 672 total hours in month
· Subtract 32 hours Planned Outage for the month = 640 hours available
· Apply 99% Minimum Performance to 640 hours = 6.4 hours 
This means up to 6.4 hours of continuous outage is allowable for the month.
If the Measurement Interval were weekly, only 1.6 hours of continuous outage would be allowed. (24*7=168; 168-8 = 160); 160 * 0.01 = 1.6 hours).

	Minimum Acceptable Service Level (MASL)
	The minimum service level in which the service associated with a Service Level Agreement can be performed during a Measurement Interval without being considered a Service Failure.

	Minimum Performance
	The lowest level of acceptable service performance.

	Normal working days and  hours  
	While the expectation is that the          system will be operational on a 7/24 basis, for purposes of this SLA, normal working hours is defined as Monday – Friday: 7 a.m. Pacific Time through 9 p.m. Pacific Time except for Holidays.   The      system shall remain in operation during these hours.  Planned outages shall occur outside of normal working days and hours.

	Outage Duration/Incident Resolution Time
	Outage duration/incident resolution time starts from the time the problem is initially identified or the request for service is first reported by the Contractor or the
            Administrator by either opening a trouble ticket that is assigned to the Contractor’s Help Desk or by calling the Contractor’s         support number until the problem is fixed and the service is restored or the service is provided.

	Outage Reporting
	Upon detection of a service outage, the Contractor’s notification to the
             Administrator within the specified time-to-notify interval.

	Planned Outage 
	A range of time on a specified date falling during non-normal days or hours or holidays during which the system or elements of the system will not be available. For each Planned Outage the Contractor will coordinate in advance with the        
             Administrator to attempt to mitigate adverse impact on the            system users. The Contractor will post a notice concerning each Planned Outage for display to         
            system users upon system log-in for at least one (1) week in advance of when the outage is scheduled to occur. 

	Repeat Calls for Service
	A recurring failure of the same service, device, function or system component within __ days.

	Reporting Interval
	The covered time span of a performance report.

	Response Time (Networks)
	Response time is the round-trip transit delay across the network from one terminating device to another. The Contractor may use agents or instrumentation that measures the delay between sending a request and receiving a response.

	Root Cause Analysis
	A method of determining primary causes of problems or service failures.

	Schedule
	All references to schedule in the service level requirement tables are Pacific Time (PT).

	Second Level Support
	That level of system support and assistance that requires some degree of technical research and/or expertise to resolve. Second Level Support is only initiated when it is escalated from First Level Support. For        , this is the type of support that might require the Contractor’s Technical Operations staff (to perform an ad hoc data archive), or programming staff (e.g., to fix a programming error). The Contractor’s support organization may have levels of Support beyond Second Level Support that problems are escalated to depending on their nature and severity.

	Service Failure
	Failure to meet the MASL for a Service Level during a Measurement Interval.

	Severity Level
	A designation that communicates the impact of an incident on the ability of the          
           system users to perform their business activities using the system.  Establishing a shared understanding between the Contractor and the           concerning which types of problems and associated Severity Levels reflect the most significant impact, warrant the highest priority research and resolution, and require the greatest frequency of status updates is essential to ensuring that the incidents of greatest concern to the                    user population are handled with the urgency warranted by the impact to business.

	Target
	The desired level of service the is seeking for the particular service level requirement.

	Time to Notify
	The time frame during which the Contractor must notify or update  the         
           Administrator on Service Failures and system problems for a given Service Level Agreement.

	Time to Resolve
	The elapsed time from the time the individual reporting a problem or a request for service to the Contractor makes First Contact and the time the problem is resolved by restoring functionality or the request is met by providing the requested service.

	Time to Respond
	Duration between when a request for service or problem is reported to the Contractor’s Help Desk and a help desk technician or support engineer provides initial feedback to the reporter/requestor.

	Time-to-Answer
	Elapsed time from when a call is answered by a “live” Contractor Help Desk technician, support technician, or engineer.

	Urgent System Function or Request for Modification
	An urgent system function or request for modification involves:
· Any functionality in which               could be liable financially 
· Any function in which staff or corpsmember safety is at risk,  or
· Any function is which corpsmember confidential data is at risk of exposure,
due to a system malfunction or inaccurate data.
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[bookmark: _Toc77653442]On an annual basis, the Contractor and the              will meet to review and, if warranted and approved by the            , adjust service levels, including the components and the weighting factors of the service level for any given service.
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This service category encompasses services related to the continuing, routine operations of the        system environment, including request for services and problem reporting. The Contractor will be expected to provide or integrate:
Contractor’s Help Desk– this includes telephone and Web-based support for problem reporting and resolution as well as a mechanism for the       
           Administrator to request routine services provided by the Contractor. It also includes tools, procedures, and resources for logging, managing, resolving, escalating and dispatching resources to resolve problems with access and operation of        . Problems with access and operation of         include problems originating with the Contractor’s SaaS data center, staff, and technical infrastructure (including hardware, software, and connectivity) that impact the operation and web-based delivery of the         application. 
Administration and Security – this includes design, development, deployment, and monitoring of procedures governing system user access to physical and logical information resources of      . This service component includes management of the infrastructure to ensure secure, reliable access to network and information resources and monitoring of compliance with overall State of California,         , and         specific security requirements as described in Appendix F: Functional Requirements. As part of deploying the           solution, the         Administrator will be enabled to assign system access, log-ins, permissions, and to re-set passwords. 
Backup and Recovery – this includes performing regular backups of       system data and the         technical environment (and recoveries, as needed) as defined in Appendix F: Functional Requirements.  This service component also includes annual disaster recovery testing and actual recovery and restoration of previously backed up data should the conditions necessitating this be identified.
Data Archive and Restoration – this includes executing regular and ad hoc (requested) archive of specific       data as defined in Appendix F: Functional Requirements.
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This Service Level Agreement between the Contractor and       includes the provision and integration of Help Desk Services. Table I.5.1-1 describes all Contractor committed service levels, measurable events, and target levels for the Contractor’s Help Desk Services. The service levels in the table below are applicable to, Second Level Support and any higher levels of support the Contractor’s organization or defined Escalation Process may include.  The information in this table should be understood and agreed up in Appendix G: Implementation and Operations.
          envisions two types of help desk support during implementation and one type of support once the system is fully operational and accepted.   
· Help Desk Support Type 1: During implementation       expects that the ___ Contractor, who has in-depth knowledge of the        configuration and business rules, will provide help desk support from Release I acceptance through final acceptance of the       system and the three month post acceptance support period.  
· Help Desk Support Type 2: The second type of support that is expected during implementation will be from the SPP.  This type of support will be for data center and base software support.
Both types of help desks shall be available for calls between ____ a.m. and ____ p.m. Pacific Time, Monday through Friday, with the exception of State of California holidays.   
After      system acceptance,         expects the SPP will provide Type 2: help desk support for data center and base software support.   The Service Level Requirements apply to Type 1 and Type 2 help desk support.
Table I.5.1-1: Help Desk Service Levels, Measurable Events and Target Levels
	Measurable Event
	Service Level Requirement
	Calculation
	Measurement Interval

	Help Desk Call Answer –--  
        Administrator
	90% of calls or on-line chat sessions will be answered < _ minutes by live person.  90% of emails responded to within _ hours of receipt. 
	Number of calls or on-line chat answered in < _ minutes / total calls + number of emails responded to within _ hours/total emails = "Service Level Attained” (Average) 
	Measure = Weekly; 
Report Period = Monthly during implementation.  Quarterly post implementation.

	First Contact Resolution Rate 
	__% First Contact Resolution Rate; excluding scheduled outages for maintenance and support.
	Number of contacts resolved on the first contact  / total contacts = "Service Level Attained" (Average)
	Measure = Weekly; 
Report Period = Monthly during implementation.  Quarterly post implementation.

	Incident Closure Notice (via e-mail) 
	__% of the Incident Closure Notices will be sent within 60 minutes of incident closure.
	Number of closures / number of closure notices within 60 minutes (Average)
	Interval = Weekly; 
Report Period = Monthly during implementation.  Quarterly post implementation. 
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I.5.2 Administration and Security
This Service Level Agreement between the Contractor and the         includes the provision of Administration and Security. Table I.5.2-1 describes all Contractor committed service levels, measurable events and target levels for Administration and Security.   The SLA below applies to the security requirements defined in Appendix F: Functional Requirements.
Table I.5.2-1: Administration and Security Service Levels, Measurable Events, and Target Levels
	Measurable Event
	Service Level Requirement
	Calculation
	Measurement Interval

	Security Incident Reporting and Resolution - Report and resolve detection of unauthorized or accidental modification by SPP staff. Destruction, disclosure, loss, or unauthorized access to workflow configurations and databases, as well as incidents involving loss, damage, or misuse of information assets.
	Complete Incident Report and submit to the       
          Administrator and Information Security Officer within __ hours of the incident following reporting requirements defined in _____.

Resolution of the security incident must occur in accordance with _____ response and resolution thresholds.
	Per incident
	Per incident

	After Action Report for Security Incidents
	The SaaS Provider must provide an after action report that includes but is not limited to: 
1. Identification of the Security Incident with exact dates and times
2. Was there any PII data compromised?   If so, what data?
3. Reason(s) behind the incident
4. Corrective actions taken (with time elements) to resolve the problem with exact dates and times
5. Proposed measures to counteract the incident in the future with implementation dates
6. Lessons learned

	N/A
	Per incident
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I.5.3 Backup and Recovery
This Service Level Agreement between the Contractor and the         includes the provision and integration of Backup and Recovery Services. The Table I.5.3-1 describes all Contractor committed service levels, measurable event and target levels for Backup and Recovery Services.   These SLAs apply to the Back-up and Recovery requirements defined in Appendix F: Functional Requirements.
Table I.5.3-1: Backup and Recovery Service Levels, Measurable Events, and Target Levels
	Measurable Event
	Service Level Requirement
	Calculation
	Measurement Interval

	Backup Services – Ad hoc (on request)
	100% Full back-up of some or all system data at the request of the     
        Administrator within 24 hours of receiving         Administrator request (including notification to      
          Administrator when successfully completed), stored onsite
	Number of ad hoc backups completed within 24 hours of request / number of ad hoc backups requested by the      
       Administrator  = "Service Level Attained” (Average)
	Measure = Monthly; Report = Annual 

	Backup Services - Daily
	___ % Daily incremental backups, stored onsite.
	Number of daily backups / 365  = "Service Level Attained” (Average)
	Measure = Monthly; Report = Annual 

	Backup Services – Weekly
	___ % Weekly full backups, stored onsite & offsite
	Number of weekly backups / 52  = "Service Level Attained” (Average)
	Measure = Monthly; Report = Annual

	Backup Services – Monthly
	___ % Monthly full backups, stored onsite & offsite
	Number of monthly backups / 12  = "Service Level Attained” (Average)
	Measure = Monthly; Report = Annual

	Recovery Services – when data is lost due to a SaaS system error 
	___ % Restore of previously backed up system data (some or all) on request of the          Administrator within four (4) hours of receiving request (including notification to     
         Administrator when successfully completed)

	Number of restores completed within 4 hours of request / number of restores requested by the   
         Administrator  = "Service Level Attained” (Average)
	Measure = Monthly; Report = Annual 
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I.6 Production Systems Service Levels
This section addresses the availability of the       production system. The production operations services provided by the Contractor to support these business objectives include:
Production System Availability: encompassing the overall or aggregate availability of the production system and services, including:
· Web-based access to the         application (including content delivery and transaction-based processes of the         website as applicable); 
· Data networks, system and application software, and hardware; and,
· Facilities, staff, and other system critical components at the SPP data center operating and supporting       .
Production Systems Time to Repair: including the repair of problems or defects required to enable the      production system to provide the required functionality and meet service levels.
Severity Levels define the impact of an incident or problem on the ability of        system users to perform their business activities using the system. Severity Level is based on type of      functionality impacted (e.g., reporting vs. system access); the business impact (e.g., occurrence relative to the reporting corpsmember time); and, the numbers and types of affected users. The Severity Level determines the requirements for the Frequency of Update to the        Administrator. 
The Contractor shall describe the Escalation Procedures that the Contractor’s organization will follow for each Severity Level and specify the timeframes for triggering each Escalation Level within the process in order to restore disrupted services and/or to address problems with the speed and resources warranted by the Severity Level. 
Severity Level 1 
	Problem or Situation Causing this Impact
	Frequency of Update to the           Administrator
	Escalation Procedure

	System not accessible for users
System not able to support users accurately and reliably performing routine Project, Personnel, CMD, or Timekeeping/Scheduling Functions
System not able to support        Administrator’s administrative functions, overrides, etc.

	The         Administrator receives a status report within the first __ minutes of when the problem is first detected/reported and every hour thereafter until resolved. The status reports to the        will be submitted via email  or will be reported “live” via phone during    
        Normal Business Hours and via email outside of those hours.
	Timeframe for invoking Escalation Procedures and transition between Escalation Levels:
To be proposed by the Contractor
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Severity Level 2
	Problem or Situation Causing this Impact
	Frequency of Update to the         Administrator 
	Escalation Procedure

	System not accessible for portal (if applicable) users (e.g., corpsmembers)
System not able to process business reports 
System not able to transfer data to other State of California databases (___, ____, FI$Cal)
System users are experiencing slow performance
	The         Administrator receives a status report within the first hour of when the problem is first detected/reported, and every ____ (_) hours thereafter until resolved. The status reports to the         will be submitted via email or will be reported “live” via phone during          Normal Business Hours and via email outside of those hours.
	Timeframe for invoking Escalation Procedures and transition between Escalation Levels:
To be completed by the Contractor



Severity Level 3
	Problem or Situation Causing this Impact
	Frequency of Update to the    
       Administrator
	Escalation Procedure

	“Cosmetic” problems such as fonts, layout, and formatting on reports or system displays that do not adversely impact the data or calculations being displayed or reported.
Periodic functionality impacted out of period (e.g.,          user unable to run an annual report in mid-year that is not required until year end; problem detected in ability to run quarterly archive outside of quarter end).

	The          Administrator receives a status report within ____ (_) hours of when the problem is first detected/reported and every second business day thereafter. The status reports to the        and those to the     
          Administrator will be submitted via email. 
	Timeframe for invoking Escalation Procedures and transition between Escalation Levels:
To be completed by the Contractor
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This Service Level Agreement between the Contractor and the          includes the provision of System Availability. Table I.6.1-1: Systems Availability Service Levels, Measurable Events, and Target Levels describes all Contractor committed service levels, measurable events and target levels for Systems Availability. 
Table I.5.1-1: Systems Availability Service Levels, Measurable Events, and Target Levels
	Measurable Event
	Service Level Requirement
	Calculation
	Measurement Interval

	Production System – Aggregate Availability 
	Target __% 
Severity 1: each minute down counts as one (1) minute of unavailability
Severity 2: each minute down counts as one-tenth (0.1) minute of unavailability
Severity 3: each minute down counts as one-hundredth (0.01) minute of unavailability

This includes availability of web access to the application, operation of the application, and all processing required in order to deliver all system functionality and support (including hardware and software for performing backups, restores, data interfaces, etc.).

In total, the cumulative duration of loss of any mission essential function caused by either hardware or software failures shall not exceed the specified value. A mission essential function is any function or feature whose loss requires unscheduled maintenance or intervention (e.g. server/ workstation reboot) in order to continue normal operations.)
	Available hours = Monday-Friday x __ hours per day = __ hours per week x 52 weeks in a year adjusting for holidays = approximately ____ hours per year less Planned Outages as agreed to by the         Administrator and/or the          ; 
Calculation = [Total minutes in Period – (Severity Level 1 minutes +Severity Level 2 minutes * 0.1 + Severity Level 3 minutes * 0.01)] / Total minutes in Period; excluding factors that the     
        and the Contractor agree are outside of the Contractor’s control 

	Measure = Monthly;
Report Period = Monthly


[bookmark: _Toc517092262][bookmark: _Toc519497526][bookmark: _Toc108863629][bookmark: _Toc394664388]
I.6.2 Production Systems Time to Repair
This Service Level Agreement between the Contractor and the           includes the provision of Production Systems Problem Resolution (including problems requiring software, hardware, or telecommunications revisions or maintenance). Table I.6.2-1 describes all Contractor committed service levels, measurable events and target levels for System Problem Resolution.
Table I.6.2-1: System Problem Resolution Service Levels, Measurable Events, and Target Levels
	Measurable Event
	Service Level Requirement
	Calculation
	Measurement Interval

	Timely Resolution of System Problems and Trouble Tickets
	Severity Level 1: 100% within _ hours
Severity Level 2: 90% within __ (_) business days 
Severity Level 3: 85% within __ (__) business days 

	Severity Level 1 – Number of requests resolved within _ hours / total incidents = "Service Level Attained"
Severity Level 2 – Number of requests resolved within _ business / total = "Service Level Attained"
Severity Level 3 – Number of requests resolved within __ business days / total incidents   = "Service Level Attained"
	Measure = Monthly; 
Report Period = Quarterly
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This Service Level Agreement includes ensuring that the Contractor proactively addresses application change requests submitted by the         . In this context, application problems and change requests fall into two categories – urgent and all others.
[bookmark: _Toc394664390][bookmark: _Toc517092264][bookmark: _Toc519497528][bookmark: _Toc108863631]I.7.1 Application Configuration Modification 
This Service Level Agreement between the Contractor and the         includes the provision of Application Configuration Modification. Table I.7.1-1 describes all Contractor committed service levels, measurable events and target levels for Application Modification and Upgrade.



Table I.7.1-1Application Configuration Modifications Service Levels, Measurable Events, and Target Levels
	Measurable Event
	Service Level Requirement
	Calculation
	Measurement Interval

	Timely Proposal Development in Response to   
         Application Change Requests Submitted with an Urgent Designation.  See the definition of “Urgent” in Appendix I: Section 1.3 Definitions.
	For __% of approved          change requests designated as Urgent by the        , provide a preliminary response to the request to the      
        and the         Administrator within one (_) business day and complete request within timeline mutually agreed to by the    
          Administrator and the ___ Contractor.
	Performance = Number of Preliminary Responses in response to Urgent change requests provided within 1 business day of when request submitted / Total number of Urgent change requests 
	Measure = monthly; Report Period = Monthly

	Timely Proposal Development in Response to  
          Application Change Requests Not Submitted with an Urgent Designation
	For 90% of approved         change requests that are not designated as Urgent provide proposal to the     
        and the          Administrator within __ business days of date the    
         submitted the change request.
	Performance = Number of Proposals in response to Non-Urgent change requests provided within 15 business days of when request submitted / Total number of non-Urgent change requests 
	Measure = monthly; Report Period = Monthly

	Timely Resolution of    
          Application Change Requests 
	Meet timelines reflected in proposals and mutually agreed to between Contractor and the        and/or the  
          Administrator for 85% of all approved change requests
	Performance = Number of approved change requests completed within the agreed to timeline / Total number of approved change requests
	Measure = Monthly; Report Period = Monthly




